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HOW TO PLAY



Welcome back to Midsomer, where murder and mayhem are lurking around every sun-soaked, scenic corner …


The bunting is up, and the village fete is in full swing – until tragedy strikes! Your task, as Midsomer CID’s newest recruit, is to catch the culprit, solve the case and – most tricky of all – stay alive.


Depending on which path you take through the story, you’ll uncover different clues and meet with different endings. You might solve parts of the case – possibly all of it. There are all sorts of secrets waiting for you, and lots of different outcomes.


All you need to remember is this: at the end of each passage of text, you’ll be directed to the numbered section you need to read next. Most passages end in a choice: just follow the instructions and flick to the relevant section number (use the numbers at the top of the page to guide you) to continue your investigation. That’s the easy bit. The trickier bit might be staying alive.


Once you have reached the end of your adventure, go to ‘Your Performance Review’ on p.339 to see how well you did and get hints on what you missed, ready for your next crack at the case.


Stay safe out there – and we hope you make it through the villages of Midsomer in one piece.
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‘Without further ado,’ wheezed a relieved Jeffrey Abbot, ‘it’s my delight to welcome to the stage, back in Causton for this very special charity fete, Richard Hodgkins. Or, as most of you will know him, Judge Richard!’


‘That’s not what I call him,’ muttered an indistinct voice from the hefty crowd. Around 800 people, possibly more – at least three times last year’s number – had gathered to watch the temporary stage on a bright summer afternoon in Causton, the sizeable village square given over to a collection of stalls, displays and forced shows of camaraderie.


For Jeffrey Abbot, who’d been determined to organise this year’s fete, it’d been quite the coup to get television’s own Judge Richard to come home for the weekend. Since he’d left Causton 30 or so years ago, nobody could remember him returning before. Instead, they remembered how far Judge Richard seemed to go to avoid the place.


When Jeffrey announced that he’d asked Richard Hodgkins to the fete again at an organisers’ committee meeting last winter, the rest of the committee never really paid much attention. There’s Jeffrey again, another of his pie-in-the-sky schemes … The three other members didn’t, according to the brief minutes of the meeting, seem to give the idea much credence.


But then when Jeffrey turned up a few weeks later and reported that Judge Richard had said yes, the mood in the room had turned. Before, they hadn’t taken him seriously. Now, if anything, the other members of the committee appeared rather concerned. ‘I hope you know what you’re doing, Jeffrey,’ Jessica Holland had sighed, as per the minutes. As the oldest member of the committee, a young 77 years and now retired after decades of teaching, her words carried some weight.


But Jeffrey knew, whatever problems Richard Hodgkins brought with him, he would draw a crowd. Perhaps even a record crowd.


Still, Hodgkins had arrived late. The fete had been due to start at 1pm, and Hodgkins had been told to get there around 12.30.


One or two members of the organising committee had been running around the parking area for the last 15 minutes, frantically sending messages to find out where the star attraction was. The start of the fete had already been delayed by ten minutes. Then 20. People were looking at their watches and considering going elsewhere when, 25 minutes late, Hodgkins finally arrived.


No matter. He was here and, after muttering under his breath all the way over to the podium, his game face was instantly switched on once he saw the crowd. They were here to see him, and he knew it. Moreover, he loved it.


‘Hello, Causton,’ boomed his distinctive, authoritative, gravelly voice, the deep tones familiar to four million television viewers every week, and several hundred thousand podcast listeners. ‘The court … is in session,’ he said, the catchphrase that’d been the title of his best-selling autobiography. ‘What a pleasure it is to be back in Causton after all this time.’


Jeffrey opened the aged presentation case to reveal a pair of scissors. Richard Hodgkins gleefully picked them up and looked back out at the crowd. He kept talking.


The crowd lapped it all up as he continued for a good 10 or 15 minutes, interspersing memories with jokes, stopping to reprimand one heckler with a glare and a teasing threat to lock them up. Not everyone was pleased to see him, although the overwhelming majority seemed oblivious to that.


But that was about to change.


Jeffrey Abbot looked at his watch, knowing he needed to get things moving. The members of the organising committee were scowling, not hiding how annoyed they were that this was already becoming the Judge Richard show.


‘Well then, Causton,’ Hodgkins said, lapping up the enthusiasm as it built to a cheer. He looked around the crowd, held up the scissors and edged towards the ribbon, cutting it neatly.


And then fell to the floor in a heap.
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What on earth’s going on? Head over to 149 and we’ll get the case started.
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You opt to ignore virtually everyone on the front row, with the exception of one young woman. She’s sitting two seats from the end, and while everyone else is looking at the stage, she’s looking at you instead.


‘Can I help you?’ you ask, looking straight down the lens of her phone.


‘No,’ she replies, a response as terse and brief as its content suggests.


You decide to go for the obvious.


‘Why are you filming me?’ you ask.


‘Free country,’ she deadpans in return.


She has a point. But there’s still something about her. ‘Did you see what happened?’ you continue.


‘Everyone saw what happened.’


You get the distinct impression that she’s not going to be much help, but also, that she’s trying to bait you into a reaction. Quite why, you’re not sure, but whatever you say or do here, it’s going to end up on video somewhere.


‘Were you filming what happened?’ you ask, giving it one last try.


‘Yes,’ she says, her tone not changing in the slightest.


‘And? Anything? Did you see anything that might explain why he collapsed?’


‘Just what everyone saw. Who are you?’


‘Just the police,’ you sigh. ‘Nothing for you to worry about.’
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Time is moving on. Why not head over to the car park, where most people seem to be heading? That’s at 120.


Or you could, if you really want to push this, seize the phone and see what footage is on it. You’re going to need some reason to do it. Obstruction of enquiries is the best you can think of. Even then, you know you’re pushing it. Still, want to give it a go? Go to 217.
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The wooden hut, which was a hive of activity just a few hours ago, is now drenched in darkness. It’s unlocked, although it too is surrounded by police tape. You gingerly step through and fumble with your phone to switch on its torch. The sizeable construction was erected a few years ago with wooden planks, and has been used for storage as much as anything else on and off over the years. The wood is beginning to show a bit of wear and tear.


There’s nothing obviously helpful here. A scattered pile of papers, with the logistics for the day mapped out. Some bright yellow organiser jackets. Three of the walkie talkies that were being used by the organisers. A collection of unconsumed refreshments. Even the little coat cupboard, which was locked earlier on, is slightly ajar and just hosting a small collection of coat hangers. There’s very little to see here.


Or is there? You take a closer look at the cupboard, and shine your torch deep into its corners. The wooden planks at the bottom look newer than the others. You figure it might be because they’re inside, or that they’ve been less exposed to wind and rain. But still, you press at them and they feel a little looser. Lifting one slightly, a tiny compartment is revealed. A small false floor at the bottom of the cupboard. How long’s that been there, you wonder. And what’s underneath it?


You fumble in your pockets and find your keys. You find the flattest, thinnest key and try to lever it under the individual planks.


‘I wouldn’t do that,’ crackles a voice.


Ulp. What do you do?
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Ignore the warning! Carry on at 85.


Don’t ignore the warning. Turn around and see what’s what, by going to 209.
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You decide to be open about being in the back garden of Jeffrey Abbot’s property, and move right up next to the window. Looking in, it’s definitely a dining room on the other side of the glass. There’s a serving hatch, too, which is half open. It presumably leads to the kitchen, but your view is partly obscured by the two figures on the other side of that hatch.


Ah-ha, you think. Got them. That’s Jeffrey Abbot and Gareth Andrews, and as they move, your assumption is proven correct. The pair, though, are calmer than you expected. Their argument must have played out, or at least been temporarily resolved.


But hang on. They seem, from your admittedly obscured vantage point, to be getting on rather well, don’t they? Far from shouting at each other, they seem to be talking to one another in a cordial manner. Just minutes prior, Gareth Andrews looked as if he was going to smack the door down with rage.


What’s going on? Moreover, how are you going to find out what’s going on?
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Do you want to knock at the glass and get their attention? Go to 146.


Or keep watching, at 202?
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You look at Geoff Harford, and take the information in. The murder of a television celebrity, even a not-very-nice one, is about to focus a lot of attention on what was supposed to be a pleasant village fete.


‘Are you sure?’ you whisper, as the two of you lock eyes. ‘Is this definitely suspicious?’


‘Look, you and me have known each other a little while now, and I’ve always tried to play straight with you,’ he says. ‘I can’t say for definite, but I do think there’s something that’s not right about all of this. I’ve only seen a rash like that a few times before, and it’s usually a lot milder, and caused by some kind of toxin.’


He keeps looking around, wary that people may be listening to him.


‘Be careful, Detective,’ he warns. ‘This isn’t the kind of stuff you want to be messing around with.’


‘Any idea where he’d have picked the toxin up from?’


‘Can’t help you there. But you’re likely looking for some kind of liquid, would be my guess. Or something he has touched.’


He reiterates that it’s just a guess, but at least it’s something to start with. You know that over the next few hours, this will be thoroughly checked out, but it gets your head moving.


On the stage, which is still too crowded for what’s now a crime scene, you see the scissors and their ceremonial case. The ribbon, too. Officers have moved in to bring some order there, at least.


Other than the stage, Mr Hodgkins seemed to go from his car to the organisers’ hut. There are so many people around, though: it’s hard to find a solid lead or clue.


You trace the route he’d have followed, noting that it takes several minutes to get from the car park to the organisers’ hut, and another several to get from there to the stage.


After waiting for the ambulance to take Hodgkins away –an inordinately long wait – you get a message that a meeting of the organising committee is coming together.
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Head there by going to 127.
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Your pulse is starting to quicken now, and a little smidge of panic is setting in. You feel like a target waiting to be taken down, and you’re determined to wrestle back some control.


With your phone not working and the door locked, you figure you’re going to have to force your way out of here. There’s nothing, looking around, that could help you. Instead, you decide your best approach is to shoulder-barge the door. It’s wooden, and knowing the Causton Fete Committee, they won’t have bought the most expensive materials anyway. It’s got to be worth a try.


You clear yourself a path and take your run-up. You crash into the door, and in the battle between wood and police, Detective, the wood takes the first round. With a dull, throbbing pain in your shoulder, you go again, putting all your might into the run-up, and bashing against the wooden door with significant force.


Again, a lot of noise, but the door isn’t giving way. In fact, the noise of your shoulder hitting the door masks the tiny sound of glass cracking.


You need to stop to catch your breath, the pain in your shoulder building. You take a minute, wheezing a little. Then you get back into position, ready to give the door another try. Strange. It just feels like you’ve got slightly less fuel in the tank this time. This time, you run for the door and the best it offers in return is a pitiful thump.


What’s happened? You reach into your pocket for your phone and feel a sharp prick.


Oh no.


You claw for the evidence bag that was in the same pocket, and pull it out. The bottle inside: smashed. It must have broken when you made contact with the door. The contents of the bottle don’t look like they’re being contained by a police evidence bag, either: there’s a tiny tear in it from where the glass edge of a broken shard has pierced through, dripping whatever substance was contained within onto you and your clothes.


They don’t find you until the morning. Nobody had need to visit the organisers’ hut overnight, and by the time patrolling officers came around, your ability to call for help had been severely nullified. And whoever had been outside is long gone.


Your pulse is weak, but thankfully, the dose of whatever was in the bottle wasn’t strong enough to take you out altogether. It had a damn good go, though, and it’s some time until your head is straight enough to return to work. By then, this particular case has been filed in the ‘unsolved’ pile.


And you didn’t even manage to break down the door.


THE END
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Go to Report Card 14 on p.341.
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You link your phone’s map application to your car, so you can drive to exactly the spot the numbers refer to. It takes you to the parking chevrons in front of Causton Secondary School, which – given it’s a Sunday – is firmly shut. In fact, there’s nobody around here. You look up and down the road, and there are no buildings immediately in your eyeline. It’s almost as if they built the school on the edge of the village for a reason. The caretaker’s house is next door, a car park the other side. But other than that, it’s just a school with its gates firmly locked.


What, then, was Richard Hodgkins doing here, if indeed he was actually here? Did he have a sudden yearning to go back to the school from which he was nearly expelled, you wonder?


The school does have a camera or two on the front, you remember, and you quickly seek out the caretaker. It doesn’t take long, and soon you’re knocking on his front door. Ian Carter is ex-army, and runs a tight ship. You ask him if you can check the cameras at the front, and he jumps to attention.


He invites you in, and he’s got a screen in his house where he can monitor the cameras. There aren’t too many, and it’s hardly a cutting-edge security set-up, but he can access them all from the touch screen.


All looks quiet, of course, apart from the camera that’s temporarily looking suspiciously at the quality of your car parking. But Ian Carter happily rewinds the footage, prodding the screen until it starts zipping back in 15-minute chunks. It gets to around 11 in the morning on Saturday when you spot what you’re looking for, some two hours before Richard Hodgkins was due to open the Causton fete. There he is. His notable car parked up roughly where yours is now, and he’s standing in front of his school.


He’s being filmed on a camera phone by Dusty Jenkinson. There’s no audio on the recording, sadly, but you now know that Judge Richard was in the area a good two hours ahead of time.


A picture is forming here – but what do you want to do now?
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You could quiz Ian Carter and ask if he saw anything else? That’s at 130.


Or maybe get in touch with Dusty Jenkinson about the footage, at 183?
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Detective, this really wasn’t your wisest move. There’s a mysterious vial of see-through liquid, and until you opened it, said liquid was behind thick enough glass to keep it at bay. However, your haste to get a foothold in the case has come with a heavy penalty.


With the glass open, the aroma of the liquid creeps into the air, and you instantly sense something is very off. You step out of your car into the fresh air, a move that likely saves your life, as you drop the vial itself in the vehicle.


Thankfully, none of the liquid touches you, but you still call yourself an ambulance as a precaution.


It takes its time arriving, and the paramedics find you conscious, but sat on the ground next to your vehicle. But you’re – no disrespect – no use to anybody in this state. Thankfully, the paramedics have slightly more foresight when arriving at your car, and notice the liquid on the upholstery. Spotting the vial, they treat it immediately as suspicious, and your car is cordoned off, and the proper expertise is brought in to deal with whatever is in that vial.


As for you? You’re given plenty of time to consider your life choices. By the time you return from a week or two of enforced leave, your chance of solving this particular mystery has gone.


THE END
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Go to Report Card 2 on p.339.
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‘Dusty … Jenkinson, I’m presuming,’ you say. She confirms this.


‘What do you want?’ she repeats.


‘I want to know why you’ve got Richard Hodgkins’ number,’ you reply. You’re genuinely curious about how the two of them ever got in touch in the first place: a young twenty-something Causton resident and a middling television personality who lives well over 100 miles away.


‘He gave it to me,’ she says, trying not to give much away.


You’re losing patience here.


‘You’re aware that Richard Hodgkins has died, aren’t you, Miss Jenkinson?’


Word and rumours had suggested so, and the tone of her voice is that of someone who’s had the worst confirmed.


‘And you’re aware that you’re talking to an officer of the law? I need to know how you got Richard Hodgkins’ number.’


She’s still reluctant to cooperate, but also seems a little bit nervous for herself. ‘He gave it to me the week before last,’ she says, starting to fill in a few more details. It’s still a little like pulling teeth, but she eventually tells you that Richard Hodgkins’ agent got in touch, and asked her to do a little bit of filming.


It turns out that he wanted Dusty Jenkinson to take some footage of him coming back to his home town. She doesn’t quite know what he needed it for, and you still get the impression she’s holding some details back from you. You ask her directly.


‘What aren’t you telling me?’ you ask her. She’s cautious, and seems wary of saying too much.


‘Is there a reason you’re not telling me something?’


The conversation continues for another minute or two, with your irritation growing. She’s telling you just enough, but it’s still harder work than it should be getting the information out of her.
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What do you want to do? You could tell her to go to the station, and perhaps put her under caution? A bold move that you can take at 63.


Or are you getting a bit too annoyed, and looking in the wrong place? The Chief Inspector’s press briefing might be a better use of your time. Go to 200.
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‘Does it seem like a murder to you?’ you ask DS Lambie, who tends to have good instincts when it comes to recognising a crime. He might not always be the best at solving them – although he has his moments – but he’s known for finding details others don’t.


‘I’m leaning that way,’ he admits. ‘It’s possible, I suppose, that at the exact moment he took to the stage, something went horribly wrong and he keeled over on the spot. But he’s not a heart attack candidate, is he? He’s not yet 60. And lots of people in the crowd hate his guts.’


‘But if someone was planning on killing him, why do it there? There are lots of quieter places. Pretty much anywhere else in Causton, in fact.’


‘Where the world can see, I suppose. Some people are like that.’


You don’t disagree with that bit. But still: while you’re inclined to agree this is a murder enquiry, and you appreciate lots of people couldn’t stand the man, killing Richard Hodgkins in plain sight? Who actually gains from that?
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Keep this conversation going, at 14.


Or should you two be considering whether Richard Hodgkins had a particular enemy in Causton? Have that chat at 157.
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You’re beginning to think that seeing what Gareth Andrews gets up to next wasn’t your best decision: the way he stormed towards Jeffrey Abbot’s house suggests that he’s in the mood to do someone some damage. How much damage he’s capable of doing is up for debate, but still: you’d best get closer to see what’s going on.


The advantage of the house’s size is that it’s possible to walk around it relatively unnoticed. Sure, the curtain twitchers might see you, but you’re a recognisable face in Causton and nobody’s going to be too perturbed at a police officer scouting the perimeter of a property. You just hope that you can get some kind of vantage point from the back fence.


You cover the ground relatively quickly, but the doors and windows must all be shut: there’s no noise you can hear, no argument kicking off. You know they’re in there somewhere, and you know that Gareth Andrews was in a vitriolic mood. Still, you can’t get closer than the deep-stained wooden fence that surrounds the perimeter of the property. You’ve got reasonable cause, you believe, to step onto the grounds of the house. You may need to beef things up in the eventual report you’ll write to justify your actions. It’s still a slight risk, though.
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What do you do, then? Do you want the station to send you some back-up by holding still for a minute at 97?


Or do you want to – ulp! – take a chance and climb over the fence, at 216?
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You head into the wooden organisers’ hut set to the side of the village square. The Chief Inspector greets you there tersely, and wants to have a conversation out of view. Three of the four members of the organising committee – Jeffrey Abbot, Gareth Andrews and Isabel Thomas – are soon inside as well. Only Jessica Holland is missing.


The Chief Inspector isn’t impressed with at least two of them. ‘If we didn’t have bigger priorities here, I’d be interested in why Mr Abbot and Mr Andrews, in the middle of a medical emergency taking place up on stage, thought it appropriate to have their latest public argument.’


They start to explain that they were looking for the ambulance keys, which weren’t where they should have been. But the Chief Inspector isn’t interested. You’ve been on the receiving end of the tone of voice she’s using before: Jeffrey and Gareth are not her favourite people at the moment.


‘Here’s what we know: Mr Hodgkins arrived at the fete very late, which perhaps isn’t the biggest surprise. He took to the stage, and the crowd was already restless from sitting in uncomfortable chairs for a long period of time; then, hundreds of people watched a famous television personality collapse on stage in front of them.’


‘Any word on how he’s doing?’ you ask.


‘Not good at all,’ she says, flatly. ‘I’ll leave it to the medical team to confirm the exact situation, but it’s very serious.’


The walkie talkie in Jeffrey Abbot’s hand crackles. It’s one of the people on car parking duty, he explains. A thankless job today, given how many people have turned up. The crammed roads are acting as an overflow car park and there’s a lot of irate people out there.


‘They’ll have to wait. I need to know if any of you can throw any light on what’s just happened?’


All three members of the committee look stumped. The Chief Inspector sighs. ‘Presumably you arranged his appearance at the fete through his agent?’ she says.


Jeffrey Abbot nods. ‘You need to advise them what’s happened, and quickly. There’s going to be a media circus around this if we’re not careful.’


It’s unlikely to make a difference whether we’re careful or not, you think to yourself. You elect not to say this out loud.


She turns to you. ‘Can you get any medical history on him? Is there a reason he might have collapsed? Find out and let me know. I’m going back out to see what I can find.’


While Jeffrey Abbot gets on the phone to Richard Hodgkins’ agent, you put in a call to try and get the Judge’s medical records.


In the meantime, Gareth, Isabel and the Chief Inspector leave the hut, leaving you and Jeffrey Abbot inside it.


What do you want to do?
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It’s 185 if you want to get the medical information.


Or hang up your call and listen to Jeffrey Abbot’s phone conversation? Go to 230.
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If Tom couldn’t recognise one of the most famous people to come out of Causton, then it seems grimly inevitable that he struggles to provide you with any meaningful description of the person who was here with Richard Hodgkins. He can just about wrestle together that it was a male, reasonably tall, and with a head that might have had a lot of hair on it once, but certainly isn’t a hairdresser’s showcase now.


Sensing your frustration, he does, as a consolation, offer that the mystery man ‘did at least have a nice car’.


Cars seem to interest young Tom more than the human beings actually driving them. He accurately describes Richard Hodgkins’ vehicle first, and then the luxurious-sounding car his friend appeared to be driving. Can he give you anything more useful, though? ‘I don’t write the registrations or anything down,’ he says. ‘But I bet it cost a lot of money.’ It would have been really rather useful if he did write down the registration number, you think to yourself.


‘But hang on,’ he says, finally hitting the jackpot with something useful. ‘He would have had to put his car registration into that machine over there.’


He’s pointing to the car park ticket machine. ‘Did he buy a ticket?’ you ask, your hopes raised. ‘He did. Both of them did, and they have to put a registration in it. Enough people moan about the machine. Not able to see the screen, can’t read the instructions. But you might be able to track something from that?’


Looking around the car park, you notice the rubbish bin too. Emptied recently, by the looks of it. ‘That’s my job,’ says Tom. ‘I’m the bin monitor as well!’


‘And when did you last empty the bin?’


‘About an hour ago. Would have done it earlier, but there wasn’t much in it. I’ll take the bag down to the skip at the end of my shift.’


‘You mean you still have the rubbish bag here?’


He nods, walking to the small wooden covering he was sitting under before. He points to a pile of three black bin liners next to it.


‘Anything suspicious in there?’ you ask.


‘I just bag the stuff up, Detective.’


You can’t believe you’re thinking this, but you’re going to have to sift through the bins.
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Focus on the parking machine at 175. How do you get the information out of it, though?


If you fancy getting your hands dirty, you can sift the bins at 194.
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You’ve always found DS Brian Lambie a wise, calm brain to run things past, but the pair of you find each other a little stumped by this. ‘His television persona was hardly designed to attract Christmas cards, was it?’ Lambie says. ‘He got the ratings by getting people to hate him, and I’m sure that plenty did.’


Even so, you think, he’s been doing this for a good 20 years or so now. If anything, he’d started to get a little calmer, at least when compared to the people raging online rather than on a television set.


‘Tell you what,’ DS Lambie says, ‘this won’t do ratings for his repeats much harm, though, will it?’


True. But if he’s not around to benefit from those ratings: who would? It’s not as if a television company would arrange a murder, just to get more eyeballs on its programmes …


‘I think we need to get a bit more information on what’s gone on here, anyway,’ DS Lambie adds. ‘I’d best go follow this ambulance and keep on top of any updates.’
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He’s right. And you’d best get to the car park. Go to 120.
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‘I think it’s worth telling me everything now, Ms Jenkinson,’ you say. She protests, saying she’s been sworn to secrecy and doesn’t want to get into trouble. When you assure her that you’ll do your best to observe that, she explains about the filming she was doing for Richard Hodgkins yesterday. How she wasn’t allowed to keep the footage herself, and was paid cash in hand for the work, the sum of £250.


Any question she asked of Richard Hodgkins was very swiftly rebuffed, and while he was originally going to pick her up and drive her round, he didn’t really want to take his nice car into the roughest area of Causton.


Like many who worked with Richard Hodgkins, Dusty Jenkinson found little to like about him. He took a call at one point, she says, from someone American-sounding, but other than that, there’s not much more she can tell you.
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You concede that she has been helpful. You could ask her about the laptop, you think. Do that at 224.


Or maybe it’s best to go back to the village square and see if there are other clues there, after you’ve thanked Dusty Jenkinson for her time and co-operation? Trot over to 126.


[image: ]










[image: ] 16 [image: ]



As the four committee members make their way home, you and the Chief Inspector head back into the station for a further chat.


‘It’s amazing those four managed to organise anything,’ she says, and you can’t help but agree with her. They don’t give the impression of particularly getting on, and you can see why their committee meetings would have frequently dragged on into the night.


But aside from finding out that the committee is a fractious one, are you any closer to working out why Richard Hodgkins died in Causton today?


The Chief Inspector looks at her phone. ‘The videos of today are everywhere,’ she says.


Dozens of people seem to have uploaded their smartphone footage to the internet, and already the news of Richard Hodgkins’ demise is making headlines around the country.


Someone will be looking through all of that, hunting for clues. Might be a bit of a needle in a haystack, though. There’s so much out there now, and who knows what you’re looking for?


‘We’ve got forensics working overnight, but doubt they’ll find anything. Too many people on site,’ says the Chief Inspector.


‘Any word on the scissors and ribbon?’


‘Well, it looks like Hodgkins picked up the scissors, and had a reaction to them. It looks like they were coated with a poisonous substance, which killed him within a minute or two.’


‘Wouldn’t that have killed whoever else handled the scissors, though?’


‘Yes. But don’t forget all the pageantry. A lot of people were wearing gloves today. All the committee were, after all. And those committee jackets.’
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You’re getting tired. You could go back to the village square this evening now it’s quieter, you figure. Just to take a look around. Go to 93.


Or maybe it’s time to call this a night, and start over at the station first thing tomorrow? Head to 141.
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You thank Isabel Thomas for her time, and continue walking towards the organisers’ hut itself. The door, once again, is wide open, and people seem to be walking in and out with abandon. You mutter under your breath something a little critical of the lax security, but there’s precious little you can do now.


After all, you’re not making a fuss. The advantage of the crowd not knowing that there’s been a death here is that you’re able to maintain a tiny bit of normality. You’re not sure everyone’s buying it, but any window that gives you a chance to see what’s going on? Well, you may as well make the most of that.


Certainly you’re a little disconcerted at how easily you can walk in and out of the hut without being challenged or questioned. In fact, when you walk in, there’s nobody else in there at all. The table still has refreshments and documents on it. There’s a spare walkie talkie or two. People are milling around outside, but nobody is monitoring who’s going in and out.


The wooden building has a little cupboard built into it in the corner, and the table set to the side has some drinks and tired-looking sandwiches on it. Nothing you fancy eating, that much is for sure.


You might want to come back here a little later, you consider, because what you’ve proven to yourself here is that security around the building is very much on the lax side. If the ambulance keys were here somewhere, it wouldn’t be much of a challenge to remove them and put them elsewhere. In fact, if anything important was in here, you question whether it’d be safe.


You decide to head over to the car park to continue your enquiries. But you’ve got a firm impression that the organising committee didn’t prioritise security when planning out this event.
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Head to 211.
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‘Can I go now?’ asks Dusty Jenkinson, after answering a few more of your questions. You look across the room to DS Lambie, to see what he makes of the situation. His expression isn’t giving you any clues though. Still, something’s niggling you about her.


‘I don’t think so,’ you exhale. ‘I’ve got an active murder enquiry here now, and I’m not really convinced you’re telling me everything you know.’


‘Murder?!’ she gasps. ‘I didn’t know this was a murder enquiry!’


‘And you’re right in the middle of it, Miss Jenkinson,’ you say, a frost descending on the room as you do so. Even the pot plant in the corner gets the chills as you speak.


Dusty Jenkinson gets up to go, looking panicked. ‘I’m nothing to do with any murder,’ she says, putting her jacket on.


‘Please don’t make me caution you,’ you say.


‘Caution me?! Am I being charged with something?’


‘Not at the moment,’ you reply. ‘But I need you to help me with my enquiries.’


‘I’m not having this,’ she says, heading to the door.


‘Dusty Jenkinson,’ you say, clearing your throat. ‘I’m arresting you on the suspicion of obstruction of justice. You do not have to say anything, but it may harm your defence if you do not mention when questioned something that you later rely on in court’.


DS Lambie looks genuinely shocked when you do this, and your heart is thumping. You know you’ve taken a gamble. As she’s led away to a holding cell, you and he exchange a look.


‘I hope you know what you’re doing,’ he mutters.


So do I, you think to yourself.


Now you’ve got Dusty Jenkinson under arrest, what do you want to do?
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Are you sure you’re doing the right thing? If you change your mind about arresting her, you might have given her enough of a scare. Try that at 68.


You could get her phone searched, to see if her story tallies? Do that 233.
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You take a breath and stand up, walking to a board at the front of the room. ‘Can someone talk me through what they know of Richard Hodgkins’ movements today, please?’


Between the four of them, they fashion a basic picture of what happened. Hodgkins was initially given an arrival time of 12pm, an hour earlier than he was actually needed. His agent pushed that back to 12.30pm in the final plan.


It was the job of Jeffrey Abbot and Gareth Andrews to greet him when he arrived, but – given Hodgkins was running so late – in the end, Jeffrey was by the stage trying to calm an impatient crowd when word crackled into his walkie talkie that the Judge was finally here.


‘Who relayed the message?’ you ask. Isabel Thomas says it was her, as she was waiting by the road, watching for Hodgkins to arrive. He finally drove into the car park at around 1.20pm.


‘How did he look? How was he?’ you ask.


‘He wasn’t happy,’ Isabel Thomas admits. ‘And he looked quite, well, harried, really. I figured he was flustered because he was so late.’ She confirms she escorted him to the organisers’ hut, and left him there while he hung up his coat and got his briefing notes.


Anticipating your next question, she hands over a copy of the notes. Nothing out of the ordinary in them, that you can see.


‘Where were the scissors?’


‘They’d been on the table in the office all morning. I collected them when I fetched Mr Hodgkins and took him to the stage,’ says Jeffrey Abbot.


‘I bought them from Causton Stores yesterday,’ Jessica Holland pipes up. She’d then dropped off the ribbon and scissors with Jeffrey at the previous evening’s final planning meeting.


You look around the group and then the room. Are you missing something? The conversation continues for a little while, before the Chief Inspector declares it’s best to call it a night. You could quickly sneak in a chat with Isabel Thomas or Jessica Holland before they go, though?
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Ask Jessica Holland to stay behind, maybe? Go to 73.


Or perhaps you’re best chatting to Isabel Thomas before she heads home. Go to 239.
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The home-brew tent is heaving with activity, as it always is on these occasions. It’s a bit odd calling it a tent, given the size of the thing. Yet even though the Causton fete itself may have varied in popularity over the years, Pete Page’s home-brew tent has only got more popular. He won’t tell anyone his secret ingredients, but the sales he makes at events like these certainly put less pressure on the day job.


You have to work your way through a bit of a crowd to get to the tent itself, and it’s no less busy inside. Pete Page is one of three people serving behind the long table that’s acting as his bar, and he’s got his hands full. No matter – you need a word.


You head around to the side of the bar, holding up your ID to anyone who thinks you’re trying to push in. Pete Page spots you and walks over. When you indicate that you want a word, he calls over to another of his helpers, who looks like they’d just started their break. While they step in for him, he beckons you around to the back of the tent.


Sensing that he needs to get back to work, you come to the point: there’s a note on file about an altercation between him and Richard Hodgkins.


‘Yes, and I hope he’s dead,’ he says, with no venom in his voice at all. Just the sound of a man who’s got no positive feelings at all towards the Judge.


‘Why? It says on the file that you were on his television show?’


‘I wasn’t. I wouldn’t go on that. My sister did, though.’


You don’t know his sister, but he explains that Michelle Page works down south, and went on the Judge Richard show when her friends dared her to. Thinking it was a piece of fun, Hodgkins then proceeded to rip her to shreds on national television. Mr Page was not impressed, and went to make what he describes as ‘a few constructive points’ to Mr Hodgkins.


He explains that he visited his sister after she filmed the show, and she’s never really been the same since. So enraged was he that he went to Hodgkins’ house and managed to confront the Judge himself. This was outside the gate to the property, as Hodgkins was driving in and waiting for the gate to open. Pete Page made his feelings very much known, and Richard Hodgkins in turn called the police.


‘The police down by his place hate him too,’ Pete says. ‘They told me not to go near him again, but as I hadn’t actually done anything to him, they wouldn’t take action.’


‘Was that it?’


‘Just that one of them whispered they wished I had actually done something to him.’


‘And did you?’


‘I’m not answering that,’ he smiles. ‘Is there anything else? We’ve got a huge queue in there.’
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Has Pete Page seen Richard Hodgkins today? Ask him that at 86.


Or what are people saying in the home-brew tent? Query that at 161.
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You watch as Arnold Leach arrives, and you instantly get his hackles up by telling him he won’t be meeting with the Causton Fete Committee. Instead, he’s put under immediate caution, and you lead him to an interview room.


After letting him simmer for half an hour, you walk in and start the recording. You’ve barely got a question out of your lips before he goes in with both barrels.


‘My client would be alive if it wasn’t for that committee,’ he says. The drive to Causton has given him time to strategise, and he’s clearly decided on his tactics. They’re effective ones, too. Even though there’s a lot of circumstantial evidence around Arnold Leach, and as much as he seems to operate in the shadows, he’s also incredibly well resourced and well advised.


He proves slippery under interview, and the same when the Chief Inspector tries to get under his skin. But what you all conclude is that the tangible evidence you have in front of you is Gareth Andrews admitting all of the committee were in on the attempt to, at the very least, incapacitate Richard Hodgkins. At the very least, they all knew. They were all parties to a premeditated crime, and when it comes to court, the judge does not look favourably upon them.


There’s no single magic-bullet piece of evidence that proves beyond reasonable doubt that they’re guilty of murder. In the case of Arnold Leach, you can pin nothing on him. A lot of accusations can be thrown in his direction, many of which, ordinarily, you think would stick. But it feels like the case has slipped away from you right at the end here.


Still, the Chief Inspector has four convictions – each member of the committee – for this particular crime. It’s a decent result, she argues, as she buys you a lukewarm cup of coffee. Now, she says, it’s time to get on with the next case.


THE END
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Go to Report Card 23 on p.343.
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You take a deep breath, nod to PC Swann and read both Gareth Andrews and Jeffrey Abbot their rights. They look surprised and a bit taken aback that you’ve taken this path, and a bit of you wonders, from their reaction, if you’ve done the wrong thing.


You have.


You talk them through a lot of the circumstantial evidence from the last 24 hours or so, and about their dislike of each other. But while both are frosty, neither – even when you talk to them separately – is telling you anything that might begin to hold up in a court of law.


It doesn’t stop you trying, as you question them for hours, eventually bringing them together too. But it’s the Chief Inspector who eventually pulls the plug on it all, ordering their release, and sending the pair home with both thanks for their time, and an apology for their arrest.


Then she turns to you, and gives you a detailed dressing-down about appropriate procedure, about how you need actual evidence – or at least, something more solid than you’ve got – to be able to bring people in. She castigates you for taking a gamble, one that absolutely hasn’t paid off. The pair walk away free, and the Chief Inspector starts muttering something about how you might want to consider a transfer if this is the way you’re going to go about things.


THE END
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Go to Report Card 11 on p.341.
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You quickly bid Gareth Andrews farewell and grab your phone from your pocket. Nothing new, but then you also realise that the ambulance is still on site. You decide to leave Richard Hodgkins’ car, which is still attracting its fair share of onlookers, and call the Chief Inspector, who quickly answers. ‘I’m still on the other side of the ambulance,’ she whispers.


You hang up the phone and make haste. ‘Lots of people are leaving,’ you report, ‘although his car is still there.’


‘We’ll need a search of that,’ she says.


‘Is it definitely foul play?’


‘I’m expecting confirmation of that any minute,’ she tells you.


‘Is that why the ambulance hasn’t moved?’


‘It’s one reason,’ she says.


‘Is anyone else in there?’


She lowers her voice still further. ‘Not without a protective suit, no.’


You look puzzled. A protective suit?


The Chief Inspector fills in the blanks for you.


‘Our working theory is that he was poisoned’.


You stare at her, trying to take all this in. ‘But we all saw: what could have poisoned him?’


‘Best guess? Those,’ she says, pointing at the scissors and ribbon on the floor of the stage, now surrounded by police tape.


‘Why the ribbon and scissors?’ you ask, genuinely puzzled.


‘It’s a best guess. But the examination of the body so far is giving us no signs of trauma, or of a cardiac incident, an aneurism, anything that could have killed him quickly. But there’s a small mark now on his hand where he held the scissors, and his skin … well, a rash has formed, and it certainly wasn’t there when he got onto the stage.’


‘How do you know?’


‘Because enough people have pointed their phones at what was happening, and uploaded it all to social media, Detective.’


‘They’ve uploaded it all already?’


The Chief Inspector rolls her eyes. ‘You’re not good with the modern world are you, Detective?’


‘I do my best,’ you mutter.


But it turns out she’s right about the social media factor. There was some problem getting a connection for those sitting right near the front, but when they ran back towards the car park area, they got good reception again, and set about showing the world what had happened. The broader media hasn’t yet picked it up, but it’s not going to take them more than hour. That’s if someone hasn’t already tipped them off.


‘The rash is where he held the scissors?’ you ask, trying to block out the impending interest from the wider world.


‘It’s the best theory we’ve got at the moment,’ she says.


‘Who gave him the scissors?’


‘Presumably a member of the organising committee.’ They shouldn’t be too tricky to track down. But, then, the scissors were in a protective presentation case. Given how laidback the security of the place is, also, your suspect list is not narrowing down much.


You look over at the organisers’ hut as a good example. Once a very pleasant permanent wooden building to the side of the village square, it’s hardly been treated with tender loving care over the years. Even looking over now, with everything that’s happened, you see the front door to it wide open. You sigh inwardly as the two of you head in there, where the members of the committee are assembling.


‘Does anyone else know he’s passed?’ you check.


‘Well, there’s his next of kin.’


‘Who is it?’


‘Well, that’s the odd thing. It’s not a family member or anything. In fact, it’s just a number with a false name on it.’


‘Does it ring?’


‘Yes, but nobody answers.’


Somebody not answering the phone is hardly a reason to get Interpol on the line, you think. But the false name?


‘How do you know it’s false?’


‘It’s listed as John Bloggs,’ she says. ‘I didn’t even bother to check whether it was false or not in the end. Nor, by the looks of it, did anyone else.’


Several lines of enquiry here. Which are you going to follow?
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Perhaps you can try and get a trace on the phone number? Head to 170.


Focus on the ribbon and scissors, by jumping to 225.
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‘I can’t go into detail at the moment,’ you explain to Dusty Jenkinson, ‘but I could really use your help. Something’s happened here today, as you know, and I’m trying to just tie up some loose ends.’


You’re tempted to try suggesting his family will want to know what’s happened, or something along those lines. Still, if she’s had the slightest interaction with Richard Hodgkins, then she’s not going to buy that. Your best ploy, you conclude, might just be to ask nicely.


‘I didn’t actually meet him until today, or even speak to him,’ Dusty tells you. Everything was arranged through his agent, she explains.


‘Did the agent pay you?’


‘No, Richard Hodgkins gave me the cash this morning. I know it’s cash in hand and I know I’m supposed to declare it, but I really need the money, Detective.’


You don’t say anything, and let her keep talking. You’re hardly going to arrest her for accepting cash in hand, but you don’t mind her thinking that you might.


‘He wasn’t very nice, anyway. All happy when the camera was turned on, but then he kept looking at his watch and cursing under his breath.’


‘Perhaps he knew he was running late for the fete?’


‘Oh no, he didn’t care much. I told him that he was going to be late at one point, but he was dismissive of that.’


‘Dismissive how?’


‘He just said, “They’ll wait for me, I’m the star attraction”, all that kind of stuff. He didn’t seem very happy to be here.’


‘What happens with the footage that you shot? Anything interesting in it?’


‘It all goes to his agent, and not really. He said something about a television project he’s pitching tomorrow, and that there might be more cash-in-hand work for me.’


You check your phone. The news is going to break soon about Richard Hodgkins’ death, and a statement has just gone out from the Chief Inspector. Not that Dusty Jenkinson has asked a single question about Hodgkins’ wellbeing, you note.


You decide to wrap up what you’re doing here, and prepare for what’s likely to be an incredibly busy Sunday tomorrow.
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Go to 141.


[image: ]




OEBPS/images/title.jpg
Simon Brew
AN OFFICIAL

MIDSOMER.
MURDERS

INTERACTIVE NOVEL

AFETE
WOI':SE THAN

DEATH_

g cavYo STOP A MURDERER w

N SURVIVE ENGLAND'S DEADLIEST counTy? \g






OEBPS/xhtml/nav.xhtml




Contents





		Cover



		Title Page



		Contents



		How to Play



		The Story



		Your Performance Review



		Notes



		Copyright













		Begin Reading



		Table of Contents



		Begin Reading











OEBPS/images/line.jpg





OEBPS/images/orn-b.jpg





OEBPS/images/9781788405065.jpg
AN OFFICIAL

Simon Brew ’ '

A SURVIVE ENGLAND S DEADI.IEST L‘UUNTW ‘





OEBPS/images/orn-f.jpg





OEBPS/images/p8.jpg





OEBPS/images/line1.jpg





